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Highlights and Objectives
Highlights in 2010
■
■
■
■
■
■
■
■

Demonstrated economic viability of initial operation in Pre-Feasibility Study
Secured export facility
Confirmed concept for large scale underground operation
Commenced Definitive Feasibility study for two million tonne per year
export operation
Obtained funding
Appointed Project Director and opened Perth office
Demonstrated value beyond two opportunistic takeover offers
Continued community engagement regarding potential project

Objectives for 2011
■ Complete Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) for highwall mining operations
(HWM) at Duchess Paradise
■ Drill Duchess Paradise to reserve status for HWM
■ Commence approvals process
■ Explore along subcrop for additional coal resources
■ Advance larger underground and transport studies
■ Investigate long term partnership arrangements
■ Continue stakeholder engagement regarding potential project

Canning
Basin

Chairman’s Report
Dear Shareholder
Our Company has made considerable progress from greenfields exploration to development and ultimately future production.
From a wider set of exploration targets encompassing copper projects in South America and the Western Australia coal projects,
exploration success has confirmed the potential of the Canning Basin as a new energy province. Significant coal deposits on Rey’s
leases, the potential for Coal Seam gas and new technologies incorporating underground coal gasification enhance the potential of
this region, already containing world class off-shore gas reserves. I believe that Rey’s Canning Basin Coal development will prove
to be the first in a new region and ultimately one of the great new Australian resource developments.
Positive pre-feasibility results at the potential Duchess Paradise Project confirmed the economic value of the 511 million tonne
thermal coal JORC resource from only one drilling programme carried out over less than 5 per cent of the sub-cropping coal
seams occurring on Rey’s tenements. The location of the deposit, close to Asia’s areas of rapid energy demand growth, highlights
the opportunity for shareholders to benefit from new resource developments in this under-explored region. Importantly, during the
year Rey acquired export access for the initial operation by securing the Derby Port. Rey has also secutred tenements to source
rock, sand and gravel for infrastructure construction. Access to a port and proximity to the coast will enhance the attractive
Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) outcome.
The initial two million tonne of exports will be supplied by a Highwall mining operation. This method can provide optimum coal
quality with the additional benefit of being less capital intensive when compared to traditional open pit mining. Rey has
commenced a DFS and appointed the highly experienced Mr. Ron Hite as Project Director to drive the study forward to completion.
Mr. Hite’s expertise is in the establishment and operation of large scale coal operations. He has also recruited an appropriate team
and appointed world recognised consultants to ensure study remains on track for results to be released in 2011.
The 2009 financial year opened with the threat of an opportunistic takeover by the Company’s major shareholder Gujarat NRE Ltd.
As the year progressed Rey was able to raise funds twice ($17.7M before costs) and effectively manage its new developing coal
province.
Later in the year the Company received a further takeover offer at a higher level from a different group, That offer was not capable
of being accepted and was ultimately withdrawn, the Gujarat takeover ended in June with minimal acceptances.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders for their solid support and thank management for the substantial
effort they have contributed to Rey’s continuing success, moving the company from the exploration to development planning stage.
The Managing Director’s report will provide a report into the Company’s progress and the developments underway in the Canning
Basin.
The year was not without other challenges. The proposed Resource Super Profits Tax caused uncertainty throughout the mining
industry and provided another distraction for management. Fallout from the global financial crisis continued to reverberate through
equity markets. Nevertheless continuing need for energy in the industrialising countries provides a solid platform for the
development of Rey’s energy projects.

Board Changes
The Company recently appointed ex Rothschild Managing Director Mr. Ronnie Beevor to it’s board and the ratification by
shareholders of his appointment will be an item on this year’s AGM agenda.
I will also take the opportunity not to seek re-election. As the Company matures and changes from a greenfields exploration
Company to development and ultimately production, the centre of its operations is moving to Western Australia. Rey may be better
served by a Western Australian who has the contacts necessary to promote the project within Government and experience in the
development of a new mining project.
I would take this opportunity to thank shareholders over the past five years of Rey’s life as a listed entity. On behalf of Customers
Ltd, the parent Company of Rey, I acquired a one block exploration license, the start of the Canning project in 2001 and it has been a
long road to take it this far. I wish the Company, it’s shareholders and staff well and hope to see a mine there in the near future.
Yours Faithfully

Julian Ludowici
Chairman
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Project Overview
Project Update
Rey’s coal tenements located in the Fitzroy Trough of the Canning Basin cover a vast 8,000 square kilometres. However, the primary
focus is to develop our identified thermal coal resource to support an export mining operation through Derby port. In January 2010,
the Pre-Feasibility Study (PFS) demonstrated a strong economic case for development. It is based on the 511 million tonne JORC
resource that was reported in 2009. The PFS concluded that an initial operation comprising two million tonnes per year of saleable
thermal coal from Highwall Mining is the optimum and most financially robust basis to begin commercialisation of the resource.
The PFS demonstrated positive financial returns at coal prices and exchanges rates based on long term benchmark coal price
assumptions of US$ 79.90/t and 6,200kcal/t gar Newcastle. The project has expected capital expenditures of $113 million and a
pre tax net present value of $161 million based on an A$/US$ 80¢ exchange rate and $88 million based on a A$/US$ 90¢ exchange
rate. The expected pre tax payback is less than two and a half years. Initial analysis of the impact of the proposed Mineral
Resources Rent Tax indicates the impact of this proposed tax will be negligible on the PFS returns at the referenced coal price and
exchange rates.

Canning Basin’s Advantages
Rey’s ability to develop its coal assets in a relatively short space of time is not only a function of focused management but also
reflects some of the inherent benefits of the Canning Basin assets. These are:
■

Huge exploration target of 9-11 billion tonnes of coal which could support multiple operations1

■

Thermal coal resource is of quality suitable for new generation of Asian power generators

■

Sections of the resource are close to the surface allowing low strip ratio operations

■

Only 180 kilometres from the port at Derby including 150 kilometres on the established Great Northern Highway

■

Acquisition of port facilities / equipment and access to Derby Port for initial export of two million tonnes per year

■

Short shipping time from the key importers in Asia, saving transport costs

■

Strong demand for thermal coal with one estimate of an additional 120–150 million annual tonnes of seaborne trade in the
Asian region alone by 2013

Definitive Feasibility Study Progress
Following the positive PFS, Rey’s board committed to a Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS). To help rapidly drive the study and project
development, the company appointed Mr Ron Hite as Project Director. Mr Hite is a well respected and experienced mining engineer
who, during the last decade, was responsible for developing the first US-China coal mining joint venture in China. This included the
design, construction and commissioning of a US$250 million, four million tonne per annum best practice coal mining operation,
state-of-the-art process facility and safety systems along with a 15 kilometre rail spur.
The DFS includes reserve definition, engineering and hydrological studies as well as preparation plant, environmental and
marketing studies. Rey has appointed key international and Australian-recognised consultants to evaluate all aspects of the
project. Further experts will be appointed to the remaining areas of study which includes logistics and port configurations. Rey has
appointed key roles in the business including senior engineering and environmental managers.
An initial draft of a proposed mine plan has been completed which allows for the outlining of equipment requirements and
commencement of infrastructure planning. Discussions with key equipment manufacturers are underway.
Drilling commenced during July 2010, following an extended rain season, with the following aims:
■

acquisition of data to allow completion of the DFS including resource upgrade and reserve drilling; hydrological, engineering
and coal quality drilling; and

■

exploration drilling designed to add coal tonnes in the north and northwest of the potential Duchess Paradise Project. Coal
located in these areas has the potential to improve the returns and extend the life of the Duchess Paradise Project as well as
enable a better understanding of longer term underground mining potential.

1 The information provided on this exploration target has not been expressed as an estimate of Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves and the target quantity expressed is conceptual in nature – with
insufficient exploration to define a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in the determination of a Mineral Resource.
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Highwall Mining
Highwall mining is considered to be the most economic method of commencing the extraction of resources from the potential
Duchess Paradise Project. This coal mining method commences with the cutting of a slot into a shallow part of the coal. Extraction
of coal occurs by a continuous mining machine which is driven under remote control into the seam exposed in theslot. Mining may
occur both updip and downdip from the initial slot. Highwall Mining has several advantages including low capital and operating
cost. Production can be incrementally added through additional highwall mining machines.

Development Timetable
2010

Permitting, drilling and engineering studies

2011

Completion of DFS, engineering design, permitting, marketing

2012

Permitting, financing

2013

Construction, first production

Duchess-Paradise JORC Resources by category as at June 2009
Seam
(Mt)

Measured
(Mt)

Indicated
(Mt)

Inferred
(Mt)

Total
(Mt)

P1 (Upper)

18.3

101.9

160.5

280.8

P2 (Lower)

16.9

41.7

171.0

229.6

TOTAL

35.2

143.6

331.5

510.5

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results or Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by
Bruce C Preston who is a member of The Australian Institute of Geoscientists (“AIG”). Dr Preston has sufficient experience to
qualify as a Competent Person for the purposes of the 2005 Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves. Dr Preston is the Technical Director of Rey Resources Limited and he consents to the inclusion in the
report of the matters based on their information in the form and context in which they appear. Dr Preston has a beneficial interest
in 6,072,025 shares or 3.3% of the issued capital of Rey Resources Limited.
The estimation of the Duchess-Paradise Coal Resources has been provided by Mr Richard Campbell, who is a Member of
The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (“AusIMM”) and is a full time employee of Blackrock Mining Solutions Pty Ltd
which was contracted to provide the JORC estimate. Mr Campbell has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person
as defined in the December 2004 Edition of the “Australian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (The JORC
Code). Mr Campbell has over 10 years of coal specific experience including coal exploration, resource modelling, estimation and
assessment, and geotechnical assessment and modelling. Mr Campbell consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based
on their information in the form and context in which they appear.
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Rey Resources Limited ABN 84 108 003 890
And Controlled entities
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Your Directors present their report, together with the financial statements of the Group, being the Company
and its controlled entities, for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.
Directors
The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:
Mr. Julian Kinnear Ludowici – Chairman, non-executive
Qualifications - BCom
Appointed a Director on 16 February 2004
Experience:
Mr. Lu dowici h as be en a listed C ompany Dire ctor for 2 5 y ears. He w as p reviously t he Managing D irector
and Chairman of Customers Limited an Australian listed company, resigning in June 2005. He is a Director
and member of the Audit Committee of the ASX listed Ludowici Limited, a mid size Australian business that
supplies capital equipment and industrial consumables to the mining industry in Australia and internationally.
He was also responsible for the establishment of BeMax Resources.
During the past 3 years Mr. Ludowici has held the following other ASX listed Company directorships:
Company
Ludowici Limited

Date Appointed
12 September 1988

Date Resigned
Continuing

Mr. Ludowici’s interest in shares and options of the Company is described in notes 5b and 5c.
Mr. Kevin John Wilson – Managing Director, executive
Qualifications – BSc (Hons) ARSM MBA
Appointed a Director on 9 August 2007
Experience:
Mr. Wilson h as over 25 y ears ex perience i n th e m inerals and finance i ndustries. H e w as pr eviously t he
Managing Di rector of L eviathan R esources Limited, an A SX-listed Vi ctorian gol d m ining c ompany. Hi s
experience includes 8 years as a geologist with the Anglo American Group in Africa and North America; and
14 y ears as a stockbroking analyst and i nvestment ba nker w ith C S Fi rst Bost on and Merrill L ynch i n
Australia and New York.
Mr. Wilson has held no other ASX listed Company directorship in the past 3 years.
Mr. Wilson’s interest in shares and options of the Company is described in notes 5b and 5c.

Dr. Bruce Clement Preston –Technical Director, executive
Qualifications – BSc (Hons) PhD
Appointed a Director on 27 July 2004
Experience:
Dr. Pr eston i s a geophysicist wi th ov er 1 0 y ears experience in m ineral ex ploration a nd e valuation i n
Australia and the Asia Pacific, fol lowed by 14 years as a m ining rese arch ana lyst/advisor in stockb roking
and funds management. He has extensive knowledge of the mining sector and commodity markets.
Special Responsibilities: Audit Committee
Dr. Preston has held no other ASX listed Company directorship in the past 3 years.
Dr. Preston’s interest in shares and options of the Company is described in notes 5b and 5c.
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Mr. Alan John Humphris - non-executive, independent
Qualifications – BSc BEc MA (Laws) Dist.(UK) FCPA
Appointed a Director on 27 July 2004
Experience:
Mr. Humphris is a merchant banker with more than 30 years experience in Australia and offshore markets
specializing in corporate finance and advisory services. He is Managing Director of Balmoral Capital Pty
Limited, a boutique, merchant banking firm. Previously he was an Executive Director of Hambros Australia
Limited and Head of Hambros Corporate Finance, and earlier he was a Director of J P Morgan Australia
Limited.
Mr. Humphris has had significant experience in the resources sector in both advisory and prior nonexecutive director roles.
Special Responsibilities: Chairman of Audit Committee.
During the past 3 years Mr. Humphris has held the following other ASX listed Company directorships:
Company
ASF Group Limited
Zamia Gold Mines Limited

Date Appointed
5 September 2007
14 January 2010

Date Resigned
Continuing
Continuing

Mr. Humphris’ interest in shares and options of the Company is described in notes 5b and 5c.
Mr. James Timothy McClements - non-executive
Qualifications - B Econ (Hons)
Appointed a Director on 29 August 2007
Mr. McClements has more than 25 years experience in the resources industry and investment banking and
he is a co-founder of Resource Capital Fund a mining-focused private equity firm based in Denver, Colorado
and Perth, Australia. He has experience in the resources industry, particularly in the field of resource
financing and investing in junior mining companies globally. During his career, Mr. McClements was Senior
Vice President and Director of N.M. Rothschild & Sons (Denver), responsible for the North American
Resources banking. Prior to this, he worked with Rothschild Australia Limited, specialising in the financing of
mining companies.
.
During the past 3 years Mr. McClements has held the following other ASX listed Company directorships:
Company
Murchison Metals Limited
Bannerman Resources Limited

Date Appointed
2 May 2007
17 December 2008

Date Resigned
Continuing
Continuing

Mr. McClement’s interest in shares and options of the Company is described in notes 5b and 5c.
Mr. Ronnie Beevor
Non-Executive, Independent
Qualifications - BA (Hons)
Appointed a Director on 2 August 2010
Mr. Beevor is an investment banker and is a Senior Advisor to Gryphon Partners, having previously been
Head of Investment Banking at NM Rothschild & Sons (Australia) Limited between 1997 and 2002. He has
had extensive involvement in the natural resources industry, both in Australia and internationally. He was
formerly a non-executive director of ASX-listed Oxiana Limited which successfully developed the Sepon
gold-copper project in Laos as well as the Prominent Hill copper-gold deposit in South Australia. Mr. Beevor
is Chairman of AIM-listed EMED Mining Public Limited and a non-executive director of Bannerman
Resources Limited, Bendigo Mining Limited, New World Energy Limited, QMAG Limited and Talison Lithium
Limited.
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Mr. Beevor has an Honours Degree in Philosophy, Politics and Economics from Oxford University and
qualified as a chartered accountant in London in 1972.
During the past 3 years Mr. Beevor has held the following ASX listed Company directorships:
Company
Bannerman Resources Limited
Bendigo Mining Limited
Oxiana Limited / OZ Minerals
Limited

Date Appointed
27 July 2009
1 November 2002
19 April 2002

Date Resigned
Continuing
Continuing
11 June 2009

Mr. Beevor’s interests are1,952,149 ordinary shares and nil options.
Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise
stated.
Company Secretary
Mr. Julian Ludowici and Mr. Rolando Tinoco held the position of Joint Company Secretary at the end of the
financial year. Mr. Ludowici’s qualifications and experience are reported above. Mr. Tinoco is an Associate
Member of CPA with more than 19 years experience as a financial and management accountant including
senior line management roles with South American and European companies.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the consolidated group during the financial year were:
Mineral resource exploration and mineral project evaluation.
Review of Operations
During the reporting period the Company continued evaluation of the Duchess Paradise Project. A Pre
Feasibility Study was completed in January 2010, which indicated that there was a strong case for economic
development of the resource that was described in 2009. The board committed to a Definitive Feasibility
Study (“DFS”) and a team of technical experts was assembled to undertake this study which is due for
completion during 2011. Drilling to determine the technical information required for the DFS study
commenced subsequent to the end of the reporting year.
Corporate
A Non-Renounceable Rights Issue raising $2.7 million and issuing 30.6 million shares was completed.
A Placement and Share Purchase Plan was also completed during the year raising $15 million and i ssuing
75 million shares.
A takeover offer for the Company was received on 20 July 2009 from Gujarat NRE Minerals Limited, one of
the Company’s shareholders. This takeover offer lapsed on 9 July 2010.
A takeover offer for the Company was proposed by Fusedale Australia Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Crosby Capital Limited. This takeover offer lapsed on 15 January 2010.
Positive Du chess Pa radise Project P re-feasibility St udy r esults w ere an nounced. T he C ompany has
committed to Definitive Feasibility Study on a highwall mining project.
Agreement was reached with Uranium Exploration Australia Limited to explore for uranium at Myroodah in
the Canning Basin in Western Australia.
Agreement was r eached w ith Yunnan Copp er A ustralia Li mited t o di vest t he Hum ito coppe r ex ploration
leases in Chile and the sale was completed on 30 March 2010.
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Blackfin Pty Ltd (Blackfin), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received an application from
Mineralogy Pty Ltd (Mineralogy) for forfeiture against certain exploration licenses held by Blackfin. While the
tenements, which are the subject of the application, cover areas of strategic interest to the Company, they
do not relate to the Company current resource or feasibility study in relation to the Duchess Paradise
Project.
The applications claim that Blackfin has failed to comply with the expenditure conditions for the year 2009
and that the exploration licenses should be forfeited in favour of Mineralogy. This application, to be handled
by the Mining Warden, commenced in December 2009. Under the Mining Act, the Mining Warden may
recommend the forfeiture of an exploration licence, impose a penalty not exceeding $10,000 as an
alternative to forfeiture, or dismiss the application. No conclusion has yet been reached and the matters are
set for further hearings by the Warden in January 2011.
Rey has expended significant capital on progressing its tenements, including exploration, development and
furthering relationships with local stakeholders. Rey intends to vigorously defend this matter. In the event
that Blackfin forfeits all of these exploration licenses, the Group will need to impair capitalised exploration
expenditure incurred of $1,521,145.
Operating Results
The consolidated l oss o f t he con solidated gr oup for t he financial y ear after pr oviding for i ncome t ax
amounted to $2,447,172.
Dividend Paid or Recommended
No dividend has been declared or paid during the financial year.
Financial Position
The net assets of the consolidated group increased by $14,321,404 from $7,137,317 as at 30 June 2009 to
$21,458,721 as at 30 June 2010.
Significant Changes in State of Affairs
There have been no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year.
After Balance Date Events
On 9 July 2010 Gujarat NRE Minerals Limited takeover offer for the Company lapsed.
On 24 July 2010 drilling commenced on the Duchess Paradise project area.
On 6 Aug ust 201 0 Mr Kevin Wilson exercised 1,000,000 options, w hich had an expiry date of 9
August 2010.
On 17 August 2010 Rey Investments Chile Limitada was disposed of.
Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial
year and the dat e of this report any item, transaction or event of a ma terial or unusual nature likely, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, in future financial years.

Future Development, Prospects and Business Strategies
Likely de velopments i n the oper ations o f t he consolidated group an d t he e xpected re sults of th ose
operations in future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information
is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the economic entity.
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Environmental Issues
The consolidated group’s operations are regulated by the Mineral Resource Development Legislation in the
Jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The Company always seeks to comply with the letter and spirit of
all relevant environmental legislation.

Remuneration Report
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director of Rey Resources Limited and
for the executives receiving the highest remuneration.
Remuneration Policy
The r emuneration pol icy of Rey R esources Li mited h as been de signed t o al ign D irector and ex ecutive
objectives wi th sh areholder a nd b usiness ob jectives by pr oviding a f ixed r emuneration comp onent and
offering spe cific s hort-term and l ong-term incentives ba sed on key p erformance ar eas a ffecting t he
consolidated group’s financial results. The board of Rey Resources Limited believes the remuneration policy
to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best executives and Directors to run and
manage t he consolidated group, a s wel l as create g oal c ongruence be tween D irectors, ex ecutives and
shareholders.
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration of key management for the group
is as follows:
•

the remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for key management, was developed by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board;

•

all e xecutives r eceive a base s alary (w hich i s b ased o n fa ctors such as len gth of service an d
experience) and superannuation;

•

the Remuneration Committee reviews executive packages annually by reference to the consolidated
group’s performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors; and

The Board is currently reviewing the structure of the short-term and long-term incentives.
2010 Key Management and Directors
Short Term Benefits

Post Employment

Share-based

Benefits

Payments

Cash Salary,

Superannuation

Options/Shares

Fees and Other

Contribution

(1)

To

tal

$

$

$

$

Julian Ludowici

113,633

10,227

-

123,860

Kevin Wilson(2)

535,000

20,250

74,950

630,200

Bruce Preston

165,000

14,850

-

179,850

Alan Humphris

36,100

2,250

1,291

39,641

James McClements

25,000

2,250

-

27,250

874,733

49,827

76,241

1,001,801

(1) The fair value of the options is calculated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes model.
Options may be issued to Directors as part of the Company’s Directors and Employees Option Plan.
(2) Includes a performance bonus paid for financial year 2009 of $155,000 and an accrued performance
bonus for financial year 2010 of $155,000.
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2009 Key Management and Directors
Short Term Benefits

Post Employment

Share-based

Benefits
Cash Salary

Payments

Superannuation

Options/Shares

Total

fees and other

Contribution

(1)

$

$

$

$

-

109,000

642,454

860,454

Julian Ludowici

100,000

9,000

Kevin Wilson

200,000

18,000

Bruce Preston

150,000

13,500

-

163,500

Alan Humphris

25,000

2,250

2,560

29,810

Arun Jagatramka (2)

23,082

2,077

1,291

26,450

James McClements

25,000

2,250

523,082

47,077

-

27,250

646,305

1,216,464

(1) The fair value of the options is calculated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes model.
Options are issued to Directors as part of the Company’s Directors and Employees Option Plan.
(2) Resigned as a Director on 3 June 2009.

Employment contracts of directors and senior executives
The employment conditions of the Chairman, Mr. Julian Ludowici; the Managing Director, Mr. Kevin Wilson;
and the Technical Director, Dr. Bruce Preston are formalised in contracts of employment.

Meetings of Directors
During the financial year 13 Directors’ meetings were held.
Attendance at Directors’ meetings by each director during the year were as follows:

e
at
Julian Ludowici
Kevin Wilson
Bruce Preston
Alan Humphris
James McClements

No. of meetings
ligible to
tend
13
13
13
13
13

No. of
meetings
attended
13
13
12
12
10
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Attendances at the meetings of Audit Committee by each member during the year were as follows:

e
at
Alan Humphris
Bruce Preston

No. of meetings
ligible to
tend
2
2

No. of
meetings
attended
2
2

Attendances at the meeting of Remuneration Committee by each member during the year were as follows:

e
at
Julian Ludowici
Alan Humphris
James McClements

No. of meetings
ligible to
tend
2
2
2

No. of
meetings
attended
2
2
2

Indemnifying Officers or Auditors
During or since the end of the financial year the Company has given an indemnity as follows:
the Com pany has ent ered i nto an agreement t o i ndemnify D irectors, ag ainst a ny li ability ari sing f rom a
claim brought by a third party against the Company. The agr eement provides for the Company to pay all
damages and costs which may be awarded against the Directors; and
the Company has agreed that Directors’ liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending
any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in the capacity of Director of the Company,
other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to the Company will be indemnified by the
Company.
The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.
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Options
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Rey Resources Limited under option are as
follows:
Grant Date

Date of Expiry

Exercise Price

Number under Option

24/06/08 0

9/08/10

$0.10

1,000,000

24/06/08 0

9/08/11

$0.15

1,000,000

24/06/08 0

9/08/12

$0.20

1,000,000

24/06/08 0

9/08/13

$0.30

1,000,000

24/06/08

09/08/10

$0.30

50,000

24/06/08

09/08/11

$0.45

50,000

24/06/08

09/08/12

$0.60

50,000

26/11/08

09/08/10

$0.30

500,000

26/11/08

09/08/11

$0.35

500,000

26/11/08

09/08/12

$0.40

500,000

26/11/08

09/08/13

$0.50

500,000
6,150,000

During the year ended 30 June 2010, there were no shares issued on the exercise of options.
On 6 August 2010 M r Kevin Wilson exercised 1,000,000 options, which had an ex piry date of 9 August
2010.
No person entitled to exercise an option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any
share issue of any other body corporate.
Proceeding on behalf of the Company
No person has applied for leave of any Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene
in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Company for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.
Non-audit Services
The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision
of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did
not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons:
•

all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee prior to commencement
to ensure they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•

the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor
independence in accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board.

The following fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended
30 June 2010:
$
Taxation services
5,00

5,000
0
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2010 has been received and can be
found on page 14 of the Directors’ report.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Julian Ludowici
Chairman
th

Dated this 30 . September 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
In August 2 007 t he ASX Corporate G overnance Council released a doc ument ent itled Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd Edition). Rey Resources Limited has ensured adoption
of those r ecommendations w here p ossible. The t able below sum marises those recommendations an d the
Company’s current practices, including explanations in the instances where the Company does not comply.

1.1

Establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to senior executives

1.2

Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives.

1.3

Provide for the information indicated in the Guide for reporting Principle 1.

2.1

A majority of the board should be independent directors.

Complied

Note

x

1

x

1

x

1

x

2

x

2

x

2

and disclose those functions.

2.2 T
2.3

he chair should be an independent director.
The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same
individual.

2.4 Es
2.4

tablish a nomination committee.
Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and
individual directors.

2.6

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2.

3.1

Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:
the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company's integrity
the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the
reasonable expectations of their stakeholders
the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating
reports of unethical practices.

3.2

Establish a policy concerning trading in company securities by directors, senior
executives and employees and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy.

3.3

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3.

4.1

Establish an audit committee

4.2

The audit committee should be structured so that it:
consists only of non-executive directors
consists of a majority of independent directors
is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the board
has at least three members.

4.3

The audit committee should have a formal charter.

4.4

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4.

5.1

Establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule
disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that
compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.

5.2
6.1

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5.
Design a communications policy promoting effective communication with shareholders
and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a
summary of that policy.

6.2

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6.

Rey Resources Limited Corporate Report 2010
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7.1

Establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and

7.2

Require management to design and implement the risk management and internal

disclose a summary of those policies.
control system to manage the company’s material business risks and report to it on
whether those risks are being managed effectively. The board should disclose that
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management
3

of its material business risks.
7.3

Disclose whether it has received assurance from the managing director and the chief
financial officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section
295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and
internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in
3

relation to financial reporting risks.
7.4

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7.

8.1

Establish a remuneration committee.

8.2

Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors' remuneration from that of

4

executive directors and senior executives.
8.3

Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8.

Notes

1. The Board currently has three Independent Directors, Mr. Alan Humphris, Mr James McClements and Mr.
Ronnie Beevor. The Board believes that the experience and skills of the Directors are sufficient to discharge
the Board’s duties effectively. The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, nor are its
affairs of such complexity, to justify the expense of appointing additional Independent Directors at this time.
The Chairman, Mr. Julian Ludowici is not an Independent Director. The Board believes that the Chairman
brings q uality an d i ndependent j udgement t o al l r elevant i ssues falling w ithin t he scop e o f t he r ole of
Chairman.
The B oard considers t he Company is not currently of a si ze to j ustify the formation of a Nomination
Committee. The B oard as a w hole under takes t he pr ocess o f r eviewing the s kill ba se and ex perience o f
existing Di rectors t o e nable i dentification o f at tributes r equired by new D irectors an d has a Nom ination
Policy.
2. The Audit Committee during the reporting period comprised one independent non-executive Director, who
is C hairman of t he C ommittee, and on e Ex ecutive D irector wh o i s not the Managing Di rector and i s not
responsible for the financial a ffairs o f t he C ompany. Ther e are c urrently t wo I ndependent Directors of the
Company. Subsequently to the year end Mr Ronnie Beevor has been appointed as an additional member of
the Audit Committee.
3. The Boa rd ha s r eceived from ma nagement an a ssurance tha t i nternal ri sk mana gement and internal
control s ystems ar e eff ective and as surance fr om t he Ma naging Di rector that the de claration pr ovided in
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a soun d system of ri sk management
and internal control which is operating effectively in respect of financial reporting risks.
4. Two non executive Directors and th e Chairman met as a Remuneration Committee, during the r eporting
period. Subsequently to the year end Mr Ronnie Beevor has been appointed as an additional member of the
Remuneration Com mittee. Th e R emuneration Com mittee charter i s av ailable on t he C ompany websi te.
There are n o schemes for r etirement benefits ot her t han statutory super annuation for Non-Executive
Directors.
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REY RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 84 108 003 890
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF
REY RESOURCES LIMITED
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I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June
2010 there have been:
(a)

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out In the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit, and

(b)

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in
relation to the audit.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
Note

Consolidated Group
2010
$

Revenue

2

543,457

2009
$
140,267

Office supplies and expenses

(348,840)

(193,610)

Mining tenements expenditure

(91,393)

(191,874)

(27,408)

(670,254)

(1,294,996)

(290,923)

(569,762)

(668,065)

Share-based payment

(76,377)

(646,492)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

(12,973)

(13,003)

Foreign exchange (loss) / gain

(19,160)

25,876

Impairment of receivable

(188,792)

-

Other expenses

(360,928)

(187,004)

Exploration costs expensed

14

Professional and consulting fees
Employee benefits expense

Loss before income tax expense

3

(2,447,172)

(2,695,082)

Income tax expense

4

-

-

(2,447,172)

(2,695,082)

Adjustment from translation of foreign controlled entity

(12,906)

(12,818)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(12,906)

(12,818)

(2,460,078)

(2,707,900)

Loss for the period

Other Comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income for the year
Basic earnings per share (cents per share)

7

(1.09)

(1.83)

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)

7

(1.08)

(1.82)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED OF STATEMENT FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2010
Note

Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

8

10,514,692

528,023

Trade and other receivables

9

775,119

342,788

Financial assets

10

21,693

20,264

11,311,504

891,075

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Plant and equipment

13

140,247

62,159

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

14

10,752,753

6,423,912

Intangible assets

15

8,439

7,648

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

10,901,439

6,493,719

TOTAL ASSETS

22,212,943

7,384,794

653,457

222,611

8,101

-

50,887

24,866

712,445

247,477

Borrowings 17

41,777

-

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

41,777

-

754,222

247,477

21,458,721

7,137,317

31,675,655

14,996,362

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

16

Borrowings 17
Short-term provisions

18

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital

20

Reserves 21
Accumulated losses
TOTAL EQUITY

1,181,659

1,092,376

(11,398,593)

(8,951,421)

21,458,721

7,137,317

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

Share

Accumulated

Foreign

Options

Capital

Losses

Currency

Reserve

Ordinary

Total

Exchange
Translation
Reserve

$
Balance at 1 July 2008
Shares issued during the year
Less: Transaction costs

13,438,062

$
(6,256,339)

$

$

242,173

190,893 7,614,789

1,600,000

1,600,000

(41,700)

(41,700)

Total other comprehensive income for
the year

12,818

Revaluation increment
(2,695,082)

Balance at 30 June 2009

14, 996,362

Shares issued during the year

17,754,604

Less: Transaction costs

(1,075,311)

(8,951,421)

(2,695,082)
254,991

837,385 7,137,317

(1,075,311)
12,906

Revaluation increment

12,906
76,377

Loss attributable to members of parent
company

(2,447,172)
31,675,655

646,492

17,754,604

Total other comprehensive income for
the year

(11,398,593)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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12,818
646,492

Loss attributable to members of parent
company

Balance at 30 June 2010

$
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76,377
(2,447,172)

267,897

913,762 21,458,721

Rey Resources Limited and Controlled Entities

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
Note

Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Other income
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash (used in) operating activities

25(a)

718

9,294

(2,827,187)

(1,672,007)

338,426

129,130

(2,488,043)

(1,533,583)

(53,652)

(14,720)

-

(1,616)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of plant and equipment
Purchase of software
Payments for mining tenements

(478,087)

(289,950)

Payments for exploration expenditure

(3,872,842)

(4,401,025)

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary

200,000

-

(4,204,581)

(4,707,311)

Proceeds from issue of shares

17,754,604

1,600,000

Payments for capital raising costs

(1,075,311)

(41,700)

Net cash provided by financing activities

16,679,293

1,558,300

9,986,669

(4,682,594)

528,023

5,210,617

10,514,692

528,023

Net cash (used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
Cash at end of financial year

8

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This financial rep ort i ncludes the co nsolidated fi nancial st atements and no tes o f Rey Resources Limited
and controlled entities (‘Consolidated Group’ or ‘Group’).

Basis of Preparation
The financial r eport is a ge neral p urpose financial r eport that has be en p repared in ac cordance w ith
Australian A ccounting S tandards, Australian A ccounting Interpretations, ot her a uthoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in
a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to
which they apply. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements
and no tes al so comply w ith International Fi nancial Repo rting S tandards. Ma terial acc ounting pol icies
adopted i n the pr eparation o f t his financial r eport ar e presented bel ow. Th ey have be en co nsistently
applied unless otherwise stated.
The financial r eport ha s been prepared o n an a ccruals basis and is b ased on historical co sts, m odified,
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Going Concern Basis
The Directors have prepared the accounts on a going concern basis notwithstanding the consolidated loss
reported for the year amounting $2,447,172. The Group successfully raised $15 million before issue costs
in December 2 009 and $2.7 million be fore i ssue co sts i n Ju ly 2009. How ever, ba sed o n the budgeted
expenditure for the 2011 financial year, the Group will be required to raise additional funds in order to meet
its budgeted expenditure including the Group feasibility studies on its Western Australia tenements.
The Group, being a mineral explorer and developer and without a current significant revenue stream, will
be required to raise additional equity and/or debt to finance its future activities. No assurance is given that
the Group will be able to raise future funding on acceptable terms or in a timely manner. In this event, the
Group may not be able to r ealise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in t he normal course of business
and at amounts stated in the financial report. Directors continue to manage the Group’s activities with due
respect to and understanding of the Group’s current and future funding requirements.

Accounting Policies
a.

Principles of Consolidation
A controlled ent ity is an y ent ity over w hich R ey Resour ces Li mited has t he pow er t o g overn the
financial and operating policies of so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In accessing the power
to govern, the existence and effect of holdings of actual and potential voting rights are considered.
A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 11 to the financial statements. All controlled entities
have a June financial year-end.
As at t he re porting date, the assets a nd liabilities of a ll c ontrolled e ntities h ave b een incorporated
into the consolidated financial statements as well as their results for the year then ended. Where
controlled entities have entered (left) the consolidated group during the year, their operating results
have been included (excluded) from the date control was obtained (ceased).
All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the consolidated group, including
any un realised p rofits o r lo sses, have bee n e liminated on c onsolidation. A ccounting po licies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with those adopted by the
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
parent entity.
b.

Income Tax
The i ncome t ax e xpense (r evenue) for t he y ear compr ises current i ncome tax ex pense (income)
and deferred tax expense (income).
Current i ncome t ax ex pense charged t o th e pr ofit or l oss is t he t ax pa yable on tax able i ncome
calculated using applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date.
Current t ax l iabilities ( assets) a re t herefore measured a t the am ounts ex pected to be pai d t o
(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.
Deferred in come ta x e xpense ref lects movements in d eferred ta x a sset and d eferred tax liability
balances during the year as well unused tax losses.
Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead
of the profit or loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between
the ta x b ases of as sets a nd lia bilities a nd th eir c arrying amounts i n t he financial s tatements.
Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions
are available. No deferr ed income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit
or loss.
Deferred tax assets and l iabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period wh en t he as set i s re alised or t he l iability is set tled, based o n tax rates en acted or
substantively enact ed a t r eporting da te. T heir m easurement al so r eflects t he m anner i n w hich
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability.
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of
the deferred tax asset can be utilised.
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates,
and joint v entures, deferred t ax a ssets an d liab ilities a re no t recognised wh ere the timi ng of the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will
occur in the foreseeable future.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of
set-off exists, th e def erred t ax a ssets and l iabilities r elate t o i ncome t axes le vied b y t he s ame
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability
will occur i n future periods i n w hich si gnificant am ounts of de ferred t ax asset s or l iabilities ar e
expected to be recovered or settled.

c.

Plant and equipment
Each cl ass o f plant an d equipment i s ca rried at cost or fair val ue l ess, w here appl icable, any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Plant and equipment are measured on the cost
basis.

T

he carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on t he
basis of t he e xpected ne t ca sh flows t hat will b e re ceived from t he asset’s e mployment and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in
determining recoverable amounts.
d.

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a st raight-line basis over their useful
lives t o t he consolidated group com mencing from the time t he a sset i s h eld r eady for use.
Leasehold i mprovements ar e depr eciated over th e shorter of ei ther t he un expired peri od of th e
lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset

Depreciation Rate

Plant and equipment

20 – 40 %

Furniture & Fittings

10 – 30 %

The as sets’ r esidual va lues and us eful li ves a re r eviewed, a nd ad justed if appropriate, at ea ch
balance sheet date.
An as set’s carr ying amo unt i s written down i mmediately to i ts r ecoverable am ount i f th e as set’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains a nd losses o n d isposals a re d etermined by c omparing proceeds with t he carrying a mount.
These gai ns an d l osses are i ncluded i n the income st atement. When r evalued as sets a re s old,
amounts inc luded in t he reva luation re serve r elating to that as set a re t ransferred t o re tained
earnings.
e.

Exploration and Development Expenditure
Exploration, eval uation and development ex penditure i ncurred is acc umulated i n r espect of e ach
identifiable ar ea of i nterest. These co sts ar e o nly car ried fo rward t o the extent t hat t hey are
expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the
area h ave not y et reached a st age t hat per mits reasonable assessment o f t he ex istence of
economically recoverable reserves.
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in
which the decision to abandon the area is made.
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised
over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.
A reg ular r eview i s u ndertaken o f e ach ar ea o f i nterest to de termine t he ap propriateness of
continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.
Costs of t he si te restoration ar e pr ovided o ver t he l ife of t he facility fr om when exploration
commences an d are i ncluded in the costs of t hat s tage. Site r estoration co sts i nclude the
dismantling and r emoval of mining plants, equipment and b uilding structures, waste removal, and
rehabilitation of th e site in acc ordance w ith clauses of the mining p ermits. S uch c osts have be en
determined u sing e stimates o f future co sts, c urrent legal re quirements a nd tec hnology o n a n
undiscounted basis.

An

22

y changes in the estimates for costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining t he
costs of site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due
to community e xpectations and future legislation. A ccordingly the costs have been determined on
the basis that the restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
f.

Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of
the asset, but not the legal ownership that is transferred to entities in the consolidated group, are
classified as finance leases.
Finance l eases ar e ca pitalised by re cording an as set a nd a l iability at t he l ower of t he am ounts
equal to the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments,
including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of
the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.
Leased as sets ar e dep reciated on a st raight-line basis ov er the sho rter of th eir esti mated use ful
lives or the lease term.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the
lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

g.

Financial Instruments
Recognition and initial measurement
Financial asse ts a nd financial l iabilities ar e re cognised when t he entity becom es a party t o the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the
company c ommits its elf to e ither the p urchase o r sale of th e as set (ie tr ade da te acc ounting is
adopted).
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the
instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction costs are
expensed to profit or loss immediately
Classification and Subsequent Measurement
Finance i nstruments are subsequently mea sured at ei ther of fair val ue, amortised cost using th e
effective interest rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the am ount for which an asset could
be exchanged or a l iability s ettled, between knowledgeable, w illing p arties. Where available,
quoted p rices i n a n acti ve market ar e us ed to d etermine fai r val ue. In o ther ci rcumstances,
valuation techniques are adopted.
Amortised cost is calculated as:
a. The amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition;
b. less principal repayments;
c. pl us or m inus t he cumulative amortisation o f the di fference, if a ny, bet ween t he am ount
initially recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective method and
d. less any reduction for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to
expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a
consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as
being sub ject to th e requirements o f ac counting st andards spe cifically appl icable t o financial
instruments.
Available-for-sale financial assets
a.

Loans and receivables
Loans an d r eceivables are non-derivative financial asset s wi th fixed or det erminable
payments tha t ar e not q uoted i n an acti ve ma rket a nd ar e sub sequently m easured a t
amortised cost

b. A vailable-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial asset s are no n-derivative financial asset s that ar e ei ther n ot
suitable to be classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they
are designated as such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other
entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments
Fair Value
Fair v alue is determined b ased on cu rrent bid prices for a ll q uoted investments. Valuation
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing model.
Impairment
At eac h r eporting date, the g roup a ssesses w hether t here i s obj ective evi dence th at a financial
instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale f inancial instruments, a prolonged
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
h.

Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine wh ether there i s any i ndication t hat tho se ass ets h ave been i mpaired. If s uch an
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.
Where i t i s n ot pos sible t o estimate th e reco verable a mount of a n in dividual as set, th e group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
i.

Intangible Assets
Computer Software
The co st o f com puter so ftware i s st ated a t co st l ess a ccumulated a mortisation and i mpairment
losses.

j.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.
Transaction and balances
Foreign cur rency tr ansactions a re t ranslated i nto functional cur rency usi ng t he ex change r ates
prevailing at t he dat e o f the t ransaction. F oreign cur rency mon etary items are t ranslated at th e
year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at
the exchange rate at the date of th e transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are
reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.
Exchange di fferences ari sing on the t ranslation o f mon etary i tems are r ecognised i n t he i ncome
statement, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.
Exchange di fferences ari sing on the t ranslation o f non- monetary items are r ecognised di rectly i n
equity to th e extent tha t th e gain or l oss i s directly recog nised i n equi ty othe rwise t he ex change
difference is recognised in the income statement.
Group companies
The financial results and p osition of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from
the Group’s presentation currency are translated as follows:
— assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date;
— income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and
— retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.
Exchange di fferences arising on translation o f foreign op erations ar e t ransferred directly t o th e
group’s foreign currency translation reserve in the balance sheet. These differences are recognised
in the income statement in the period in which the operation is disposed.

k.

Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered
by employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year
have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related
on-cost. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits

Rey Resources Limited Corporate Report 2010

25

Rey Resources Limited and Controlled Entities
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Equity-settled compensation
The G roup ope rates equi ty-settled shar e-based pay ment empl oyee shar e and o ption sch emes.
The fair va lue of t he eq uity t o w hich e mployees b ecome e ntitled is m easured at grant d ate and
recognised as an ex pense o ver t he vesting period, wi th a c orresponding i ncrease t o an e quity
account. The fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price. The fair value of options
is asc ertained using a Black–Scholes pr icing m odel w hich incorporates al l market ves ting
conditions. The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at ea ch
reporting date such that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity
instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.
l.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

m.

Revenue
Interest rev enue i s recognised o n a proportional bas is t aking in to account the i nterest r ates
applicable to the financial assets.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

n.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, ex penses an d as sets a re r ecognised n et o f t he am ount o f GST, ex cept w here th e
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances
GST i s r ecognised a s par t o f t he co st o f ac quisition of t he ass et o r as par t o f an i tem of th e
expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash fl ow are presented in t he cas h flow st atements on a gro ss basi s, except f or the GS T
component o f i nvesting a ctivities and financing activities, w hich ar e disclosed a s o perating c ash
flows.

o.

Comparative Figures
When r equired by Accounting St andards, co mparative f igures hav e been ad justed to c onform to
changes in presentation for the current financial year.

p.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The di rectors eval uate estimates an d j udgments incorporated i nto the financial rep ort base d on
historical know ledge a nd best available current i nformation. Est imates a ssume a reasonable
expectation o f future ev ents an d are b ased on current tr ends an d economic dat a, obt ained both
externally and within the group.
Key Judgments- Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
The Gr oup capitalises ex penditure rel ating t o ex ploration and e valuation whe re i t i s co nsidered
likely to be recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence of reserves. While there are certain areas of interest from which no
reserves have been extracted, the directors are of the continued belief that such expenditure should
not be written off since feasibility studies in such areas have not y et concluded. Suc h capitalised
expenditure is carried at reporting date at $ 10,752,753.
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q.

Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards
During the current year the Group adopted the new and revised Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations applicable to its operations which became mandatory.
The adoption of these standards has impacted the recognition, measurement and disclosure of
certain transactions. The following is an explanation of the impact the adoption of these standards
and interpretations has had on the financial statements of Rey Resources Limited.
AASB 3: Business Combinations
In March 2008 the Australian Accounting Standards Board revised AASB 3 and as a result, some
aspects of business combination accounting have changed. The changes apply only to business
combinations which occur from 1 July 2009. The following is an overview of the key changes.
Recognition of acquisition costs — The revised version of AASB 3 requires that all costs associated
with a business combination be expensed in the period in which they were incurred. Previously such
costs were capitalised as part of the cost of the business combination.
Measurement of contingent considerations — The revised AASB 3 requires that contingent
considerations associated with a business combination be included as part of the cost of the
business combination. They are recognised at the fair value of the payment calculated having
regard to probability of settlement. Any subsequent changes in the fair value or probability of
payment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent where they
relate to conditions or events existing at acquisition date, in which case the consideration paid is
adjusted. The previous version of AASB 3 allowed such changes to be recognised as a cost of the
combination impacting goodwill.
Measurement of non-controlling interest — For each business combination, the acquirer must
measure any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at the fair value of the non-controlling
interest (the full goodwill method) or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree's net identifiable assets. Under the previous version of AASB 3 only the latter option was
permitted.
Recognition of contingencies — The revised AASB 3 prohibits entities from recognising
contingencies associated with a business combination, unless they meet the definition of a liability.
Business combinations achieved in stages — The revised AASB 3 requires that where a business
combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is to be remeasured to fair
value and the resulting gain or loss, being the difference between fair value and historical cost, is to
be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The previous version of AASB 3
accounted for each exchange transaction separately, using cost and fair value information at the
date of each exchange to determine the amount of any goodwill associated with the acquisition. It
was therefore possible to compare the cost of each individual investment with the fair value of
identifiable net assets acquired at each step.
The revised AASB 3 contains a number of additional disclosure requirements not required by
the previous version of AASB 3. The revised disclosures are designed to ensure that users of
the Group's financial statements are able to understand the nature and financial impact of any
business combinations on the financial statements.
AASB 8: Operating Segments
In February 2007 the Australian Accounting Standards Board issued AASB 8 which replaced
AASB 114: Segment Reporting. As a result, some of the required operating segment
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disclosures have changed with the addition of a possible impact on the impairment testing of
goodwill allocated to the cash generating units (CGUs) of the entity. Below is an overview of
the key changes and the impact on the Group's financial statements.
Measurement impact
Identification and measurement of segments — AASB 8 requires the 'management approach' to
the identification measurement and disclosure of operating segments. The 'management approach'
requires that operating segments be identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly
reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources and
assessing performance. This could also include the identification of operating segments which sell
primarily or exclusively to other internal operating segments. Under AASB 114, segments were
identified by business and geographical areas, and only segments deriving revenue from external
sources were considered.
The Chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors.
The adoption of the 'management approach' to segment reporting has resulted in changes to the
presentation of segments results. Inter-segment revenue and expenses are reported in each
segment rather than in aggregate for total groups operations, as this is how they are reviewed by
the Chief Operating Decision Maker.
AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements
In September 2007 the Australian Accounting Standards Board revised AASB 101 and as a result,
there have been changes to the presentation and disclosure of certain information within the
financial statements. Below is an overview of the key changes and the impact on the Group's
financial statements.
Disclosure impact
Terminology changes —the revised version of AASB 101 contains a number of terminology
changes, including the amendment of the names of the primary financial statements.
Reporting changes in equity — the revised AASB 101 requires all changes in equity.
arising from transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, to be presented separately from
non-owner changes in equity. Owner changes in equity are to be presented in the statement of
changes in equity, with non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of comprehensive
income. The previous version of AASB 101 required that owner changes in equity and other
comprehensive income be presented in the statement of changes in equity.
Statement of comprehensive income —the revised AASB 101 requires all income and expenses to
be presented in either one statement, the statement of comprehensive income, or two statements, a
separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. The previous version of
AASB 101 required only the presentation of a single income statement
The Group's financial statements now contain a statement of comprehensive income.
Other comprehensive income — The revised version of AASB 101 introduces the concept of 'other
comprehensive income' which comprises of income and expenses that are not recognised in profit
or loss as required by other Australian Accounting Standards. Items of other comprehensive income
are to be disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income. Entities are required to disclose the
income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income. The previous version of
AASB 101 did not contain an equivalent concept.
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r.

New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods
The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Group has decided against early
adoption of these standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the
Group follows:
•

AASB 9: Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128,
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12] (applicable for annual
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification and measurement of financial
assets and is likely to affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets. The standard is
not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Group is yet to
assess its full impact. However, initial indications are that it may not have a significant impact
on the group. AASB 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and losses in other
comprehensive income if they relate to equity investments that are not held for trading. Fair
value gains and losses on available-for-sale debt investment, for example, will therefore have
to be recognised directly in profit or loss. The Group has not yet decided when to adopt
AASB 9.

•

AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2011).
This standard removes the requirement for government related entities to disclose details of
all transactions with the government and other government related entities and clarifies the
definition of a related party to remove inconsistencies and simplify the structure of the
standard. No changes are expected to materially affect the Group.

•

AASB 2009-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project [AASB 2 and AASB 138 and AASB Interpretations 9 & 16] (applicable
for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009) and AASB 2009-5: Further
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements
Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139] (applicable for annual reporting periods
commencing from 1 January 2010).
These standards detail numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting
standards arising from the IASB's annual improvements project. No changes are expected
to materially affect the Group.

•

AASB 2009-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions [AASB 2] (applicable for annual reporting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2010),
These amendments clarify the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment
transactions in the separate or individual financial statements of the entity receiving the
goods or services when the entity has no obligation to settle the share-based payment
transaction. The amendments incorporate the requirements previously included in
Interpretation 8 and Interpretation 11 and as a consequence, these two Interpretations
are superseded by the amendments. These amendments are not expected to impact the
Group.

AASB 2009-10: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Classification of Rights Issues
[AASB 132] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 February 2010).
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These amendments clarify that rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of an entity's own
equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights,
options or warrants pro-rata to all existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity
instruments. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.
AASB 2009-12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133,
137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for annual reporting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2011).
This standard makes a number of editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards
and Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the text of International Financial
Reporting Standards by the IASB.
AASB 2009-13: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19 [AASB 1]
(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010).
This standard makes amendments to AASB 1 arising from the issue of Interpretation 19. The
amendments allow a first-time adopter to apply the transitional provisions in Interpretation 19. This
standard is not expected to impact the Group.
AASB Interpretation 19: Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments (applicable
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010).
This Interpretation deals with how a debtor would account for the extinguishment of a liability through the
issue of equity instruments. The Interpretation states that the issue of equity should be treated as the
consideration paid to extinguish the liability, and the equity instruments issued should be recognised at
their fair value unless fair value cannot be measured reliably in which case they shall be measured at the
fair value of the liability extinguished. The Interpretation deals with situations where either partial or full
settlement of the liability has occurred. This Interpretation is not expected to impact the Group.
The Group does not anticipate the early adoption of any of the above Australian Accounting Standards.
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NOTE 2: REVENUE
Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

339,855

130,973

200,000

-

3,602

9,294

543,457

140,267

Operating activities
— In
—

terest received
Disposal of subsidiary

— Othe

r revenue

Total Revenue

NOTE 3: LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Consolidated Group
2010
$
a.

2009
$

Expenses
Depreciation of non-current
assets

(12,973)

(13,003)

Foreign exchange (loss) / gain

(19,160)

25,876

Rental expense on operating
leases

(75,872)

(79,800)

Mining tenements expenditure
Impairment loss of GST receivable
Impairment of exploration costs

(91,393)

(191,784)

(188,792)

-

(27,408)

(670,254)
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NOTE 4: INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Consolidated Group
2010
$
a.
-

The components of income tax
expense (benefit) comprise:
current tax

-

-

- deferred tax

(708,046)

(619,071)

- deferred tax asset not recognised
(losses)

1,824,316

2,156,510

(1,116,270)

(1,537,439)

-

-

(734,151)

(808,526)

22,913

193,948

- deferred tax asset/liability not
recognised (temporary)

b.

2009
$

The prima facie tax on loss from
ordinary activities before income tax
is reconciled to the income tax as
follows:
Prima facie tax payable on loss
from ordinary activities before
income tax at 30% (2009: 30%)

Add:
Tax effect of:
- Share based payment
-

Super Guarantee charge

425

Less:
Tax effect of:
- Overseas income subject to tax at
different rates
- Deferred tax assets not
recognised (losses)
- Deferred tax asset not recognised
(temporary)

2,767

(4,493)

1,824,316

2,156,510

(1,116,270)

(1,537,439)

-

-

Income tax expense/ (benefit)
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NOTE 5: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
a.

Name and position held of key management personnel in office at any time during or since the end
of the financial year are:
i)

Chairman – Non – Executive:
Julian Ludowici

ii) Ex

ecutive Directors:
Kevin Wilson – Managing Director
Bruce Preston – Technical Director

i

ii)

Non-Executive Directors:
Alan Humphris
James McClements
Ronnie Beevor ( appointed as a Director on 2 August 2010)

Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section
of the Directors’ Report.
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b.

Shareholdings
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each key management
personnel of Rey Resources Limited, including their personally related parties is set out below.

2010
Julian Ludowici – Indirect

Balance as

Received as

at 1 July 2009

Compensation

Balance as
at 30 June 2010

10,109,906

-

1,687,867

11,797,773

Kevin Wilson – Indirect

2,753,847

-

731,159

3,485,006

Bruce Preston – Direct

251,875

-

Bruce Preston – Indirect

-

5,286,500

-

75,000

-

Alan Humpris – Indirect

3,031,045

-

389,209

3,420,254

James McClements – Indirect

9,574,956

-

957,496

10,532,452

31,083,129

-

4,299,381

35,382,510

Balance as

Received as

Net Change

at 1 July 2008

Compensation

2009
Julian Ludowici – Direct

1,030,000

-

Julian Ludowici – Indirect

9,013,753

Kevin Wilson – Indirect

1,753,847

Bruce Preston – Direct

533,650

251,875

Alan Humphris – Direct

Total

-

5,820,150
75,000

Balance as
at 30 June 2009

(1,030,000)

0

-

1,096,153

10,109,906

-

1,000,000

2,753,847

251,875

-

-

4,986,500

-

300,000

Alan Humphris – Direct

75,000

-

-

75,000

Alan Humpris – Indirect

3,031,045

-

-

3,031,045

20,461,539

-

Bruce Preston – Indirect

Arun Jagatramka – Indirect *
James McClements – Indirect
Total

5,000,000

251,875
5,286,500

25,461,539

9,074,956

-

500,000

9,574,956

49,678,515

-

6,866,153

56,544,658

*Arun Jagatramka resigned as a Director on 3 June 2009.
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c.

Option holdings

Number of options held by Key Management personnel
2010

Balance as
at 1 July 2009

Julian Ludowici – Direct

Granted as
Compensation

Options

Options

Exercised

Expired

Net Change
other

237,693

-

-

(237,693)

-

Julian Ludowici – Indirect

2,021,271

-

-

(2,021,271)

-

Kevin Wilson – Indirect

6,276,924

-

-

(276,924)

-

Bruce Preston – Indirect

1,425,000

-

-

(1,425,000)

-

Alan Humphris – Direct

500,000

-

-

(500,000)

-

Alan Humpris – Indirect

227,273

-

-

(227,273)

-

James McClements - Direct
James McClements – Indirect
Total

500,000

-

-

(500,000)

-

1,432,888

-

-

(1,432,888)

-

12,621,049

-

-

(6,621,049)

-

Balance
as at
30 June 2010
Julian Ludowici – Direct
Julian Ludowici – Indirect

Total
Vested
30 June 2010

-

Kevin Wilson – Indirect

6,000,000

Bruce Preston – Indirect

-

3,500,000

Total

Total
Unexercisable

30 June 2010

30 June 2010

-

-

3,500,000

2,500,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Alan Humphris – Indirect

-

-

-

-

James McClements – Direct

-

-

-

-

James McClements – Indirect

-

-

-

-

6,000,000

3,500,000

.

Exercisable

Alan Humphris – Direct

Total

-

3,500,000

-

2,500,000 .

Options are issued to Directors as part of their share purchase plan.
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2009

Balance as
at 1 July 2008

Julian Ludowici – Direct

Granted as
Compensation

Options

Options

Exercised

Cancelled

237,693

-

-

-

-

Julian Ludowici – Indirect

2,021,271

-

-

-

-

Kevin Wilson – Indirect

4,276,924

2,000,000

-

-

-

Bruce Preston – Indirect

1,425,000

-

-

-

-

Alan Humphris – Direct

500,000

-

-

-

-

Alan Humpris – Indirect

227,273

-

-

Arun Jagatramka – Direct *

500,000

-

-

-

-

(500,000)

-

Arun Jagatramka – Indirect *

3,230,770

-

-

-

-

James McClements - Direct

500,000

-

-

-

-

1,432,888

-

-

-

-

14,351,819

2,000,000

-

(500,000)

2,000,000 .

James McClements – Indirect
Total

Balance
as at
30 June 2009
Julian Ludowici – Direct

Total
Vested
30 June 2009

Total
Exercisable

Unexercisable

30 June 2009

30 June 2009
-

237,693

-

237,693

2,021,271

-

2,021,271

Kevin Wilson – Indirect

6,276,924

-

2,276,924

4,000,000

Bruce Preston – Indirect

-

1,425,000

-

1,425,000

-

Alan Humphris – Direct

500,000

-

500,000

-

Alan Humphris – Indirect

227,273

-

227,273

-

-

-

-

-

Arun Jagatramka – Indirect*
James McClements – Direct
James McClements – Indirect
Total

3,230,770

-

3,230,770

-

500,000

-

500,000

-

1,432,888

-

1,432,888

-

15,851,819

-

11,851,819

*Arun Jagatramka resigned as a Director on 3 June 2009.
Options are issued to Directors as part of their share purchase plan.
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NOTE 6: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

38,000

36,500

5,000

4,300

Remuneration of the auditor of the
parent entity for:
— aud
— ta

iting or reviewing the
financial report
xation services

NOTE 7: EARNINGS PER SHARE
Consolidated Group
2010
$
a.
(L

Reconciliation of earnings to profit or loss
oss)

(2,447,172)

(2,695,082)

(2,447,172)

(2,695,082)

No.

No.

224,861,489

147,339,597

2,000,000

1,000,000

226,861,489

148,339,597

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)

(1.09)

(1.83)

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)

(1.08)

(1.82)

Earnings used to calculate basic and diluted EPS

b.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculating basic EPS
Weighted average number of options outstanding
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year used in calculating dilutive EPS

c.

2009
$
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NOTE 8: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated Group

Cash at bank and in hand

2010

2009

$

$

10,514,692

528,023

10,514,692

528,023

10,514,692

528,023

10,514,692

528,023

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year
as shown in the cash flow statement is
reconciled to items in the balance
sheet as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents

NOTE 9: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

Other receivables

222,622

289,792

Deposits

506,548

48,102

45,949

4,894

775,119

342,788

CURRENT

Prepayments

Credit Risk – Trade and Other Receivables
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counter party or group of
counter parties. The Group and the parent entity are not exposed to any significant credit risk as there were
no trading operations during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
NOTE 10: FINANCIAL ASSETS
Note

Available-for-sale financial assets

10a

Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

21,693

20,264

-

-

21,693

20,264

21,693

20,264

21,693

20,264

Less non current portion
Current portion
a.

Available-for-sale Financial Assets
Comprise
Unlisted investments, at cost

To

units in unit trusts
tal available-for-sale financial
assets

10b

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in the ordinary issued capital of various entities.
There are no fixed returns or fixed maturity date attached to these investments.
b.

Units in Unit Trusts
Certain controlled entities hold
interests in the following unit
trusts:

Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

21,693

20,264

21,693

20,264

BT Financial Group
The

trust’s principal
activities are the cash
management and
distribute into unit
holders in Australia

Inve

stment at cost
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NOTE 11: CONTROLLED ENTITIES
a.

Controlled Entities Consolidated
Country of Incorporation

Percentage Owned %(a)
2010

2009

Parent Entity:
R

ey Resources Limited

Australia

100%

100%

lackfin Pty Limited

Australia

100%

100%

ey Kimberley Pty Limited

Subsidiaries of Rey Resources Limited :
B
R

Australia

100%

100%

Humitos Pty Limited (c)

Australia

-

100%

Rey Derby Pty Limited (d)

Australia

100%

-

Rey Investments Chile Limitada (e)

Chile

100%(b)

100%

Rey Resources Peru S.A.

Peru

100%(b)

100%

(a) Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership.
(b) Dr. Bruce Preston holds 1% of the capital of these Companies in trust for Rey Resources Limited in accordance with relevant
Company legislation.
(c) On 30 March 2010 the parent entity disposed if its 100% interest in Humitos Pty Limited for a consideration of $200,000.
(d) On 24 August 2009, Rey Derby Pty Limited (100% subsidiary of Rey Resources Limited) was incorporated.
(e) On 17 August 2010 the parent entity disposed of it's 99% interest in Rey Investments Chile Limitada for a nominal sum of
$120.
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NOTE 12: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES
A. STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Parent Entity
2010
$

2009
$

Loss of the year

(2,054,424)

(2,707,337)

Total comprehensive income for the year

(2,054,424)

(2,707,337)

13,069,242

1,969,039

9,555,081

5,447,373

22,624,323

7,416,412

706,495

245,607

41,777

-

748,272

245,607

21,876,051

7,170,805

31,675,655

14,996,362

B. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets
Total current assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Issued capital
Options Reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity

913,762

837,385

(10,713,366)

(8,662,942)

21,876,051

7,170,805

C. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities of the parent entity.
D. GUARANTEES
There are no guarantees entered into by the parent entity.
E. CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS
At balance date the parent entity has not entered into any material contractual agreements for the acquisition of
property, plant or equipment.

Rey Resources Limited Corporate Report 2010

41

Rey Resources Limited and Controlled Entities
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NOTE 13: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

At cost

41,844

38,932

Accumulated depreciation

(8,005)

(5,180)

33,839

33,752

At cost

141,420

53,864

Accumulated depreciation

(35,012)

(25,457)

106,408

28,407

140,247

62,159

Furniture and Equipment

Plant and equipment:

Total Plant and Equipment
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a.

Movements in Carrying Amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of plant and equipment between the beginning
and the end of the current financial year
Furniture and

Plant and

equipment

Equipment

Total

$

$

Balance at 1 July 2008

29,193

66,878

96,071

Additions

6,529

8,191

14,720

Disposals

-

(36,047)

(36,047)

Depreciation expense

(1,970)

(10,615)

(12,585)

Balance at 30 June 2009

33,752

28,407

62,159

Additions 3

,043

89,842

92,885

Disposals (

107)

-

(107)

(2,848)

(6,523)

(9,371)

-

(5,319)

(5,319)

33,840

106,407

140,247

$

Consolidated Group:

Depreciation expense
Capitalised depreciation
Balance at 30 June 2010
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NOTE 14: EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

Opening balance

6,423,912

2,872,826

Current year expenditure

4,356,249

4,221,340

(27,408)

(670,254)

10,752,753

6,423,912

Exploration expenditure capitalised

Write off of exploration costs

The ultimate recoupment of balances carried forward in relation to areas of interest still in the Exploration or
Evaluation phase is dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale
of the respective areas.
Blackfin Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Rey Resources Ltd, received an application from Mineralogy
Pty Ltd for forfeiture against the following exploration licenses E04/1515-1518, E04/1520-1525 and
E04/1529. While the tenements, which are the subject of the application, cover areas of strategic interest to
Rey, they do not relate to Rey’s current JORC resource or pre-feasibility study in relation to the Duchess
Paradise Project.
The applications claim that Blackfin has failed to comply with the expenditure conditions for 2009 and that
the exploration licenses should be forfeited in favour of Mineralogy. This application, to be handled by the
Mining Warden, commenced in December 2009. Under the Mining Act, the Mining Warden may recommend
the forfeiture of an exploration licence, impose a penalty not exceeding $10,000 as an alternative to
forfeiture, or dismiss the application. No conclusion has yet been reached and the matters are set for further
hearings by the Warden in January 2011.
Rey has expended significant capital on progressing its tenements, including exploration, development and
furthering relationships with local stakeholders including indigenous groups, their advisors and the Shire of
Derby-West Kimberley. Rey intends to vigorously defend this matter. In the event that Blackfin forfeits all of
these ex ploration l icenses, t he Gr oup wi ll nee d t o i mpair capi talised ex ploration ex penditure i ncurred of
$1,521,145.
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NOTE 15: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Consolidated Group
2010
2009
$
$
Computer Software - at cost
Accumulated amortisation
Total Intangible assets

19,117

14,725

(10,678)

(7,077)

8,439

7,648

Consolidated Group
Computer
Software
$
Year ended 30 June 2009
Balance at the beginning of year

10,147

Additions

1,615

Disposals

(606)

Depreciation expense

(3,508)

Impairment losses

-

As at 30 June 2009

7,648

Year ended 30 June 2010
Balance at the beginning of year

7,648

Additions

4,393

Disposals

-

Depreciation expense

(3,602)

Impairment losses

-

As at 30 June 2010

8,439
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NOTE 16: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

Trade payables

106,563

67,847

Sundry payables and accrued
expenses

546,894

154,764

653,457

222,611

CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities
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NOTE 17: BORROWINGS
Note

Consolidated Group
2010
$

2009
$

CURRENT
Hire purchase

8,101

-

Total current borrowings

8,101

-

Hire purchase

41,777

-

Total non-current borrowings

41,777

-

49,878

-

49,878

-

49,878

-

NON-CURRENT

Total borrowings
a.
H
b.

22b

Total current and non-current secured
liabilities:
ire purchase
The carrying amounts of non-current
assets pledged as security are:

P

lant and equipment

c. C

ollateral Provided
Hire purchase liability is secured by certain vehicles owned by the Group.
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NOTE 18: PROVISIONS
Short term Employee Benefits

Total

Opening balance at 1 July 2009

24,866

24,866

Additional provisions

50,887

50,887

Amounts used

(3,906)

(3,906)

Unused amounts reversed

(20,960)

(20,960)

50,887

50,887

Consolidated Group

Balance at 30 June 2010

Analysis of Total Provisions
Consolidated Group
2010
Current 50,

887

Non-current -

2009
24,866
-

Total 50,

887

24,866

NOTE 19: TAX
Consolidated Group
Deferred tax assets not brought to account, the
benefits of which will only be realised if

2010
$

2009
$

5,262,369

3,438,053

(2,892,577)

(1,776,307)

2,369,792

1,661,746

the conditions for deductibility set out in Note (1)
occur
- Tax losses
- Temporary differences
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NOTE 20: ISSUED CAPITAL
Consolidated Group

258,639,445 ( 2009: 153,032,748) fully paid ordinary
shares

2010
$

2009
$

31,675,655

14,996,362

31,675,655

14,996,362

The company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par
value.

Consolidated Group

a.

2010
No.

2009
No.

153,032,748

137,032,748

Ordinary shares
At the beginning of reporting period
Shares issued during the year:
-23 October 2008

-

9,200,000

-27 November 2008

-

6,800,000

23 July 2009

30,606,697

-

2 December 2009

75,000,000

-

At reporting date

258,639,445

153,032,748

On 23 July 2009 the company issued 30,606,697 ordinary shares at 9 cents each to shareholders
on the basis of 1 share for every 5 shares held raising $2.7 million (before costs).
On 2 December 2009 the Company undertook both a placement of shares and a Share Purchase
Plan, issuing 75,000,000 ordinary shares at an issue price of 20 cents per share raising $15 million
(before costs).
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in
proportion to the numbers of shares held.
At the shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called,
otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands.
b.

Options
For i nformation r elating t o the R ey Resour ces Li mited em ployee option pl an, i ncluding det ails of
options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and the options outstanding at yearend, refer to Note 30 Share-based Payments.

Rey Resources Limited Corporate Report 2010

49

Rey Resources Limited and Controlled Entities
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
c

Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the consolidated entity in order to ensure that the consolidated
entity can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.
Its capital includes ordinary share capital; and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.
The Consolidated entity has n o external debt other than as disclosed in these accounts and there
are no externally imposed capital requirements.
Management effectively manages the Consolidated Entity’s capital by assessing its financial risks
and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These
responses include s hares i ssues. T here have b een no changes i n the strategy ado pted by
Management to control the capital of the consolidated entity since prior year.

NOTE 21: RESERVES
a. Fo

reign Currency Translation Reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of a
foreign controlled subsidiary.

b. Opti

on Reserve
The option reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options.
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NOTE 22: COMMITMENTS
a.

Operating Lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements
Consolidated Group

2010

2009

Payable- minimum lease payments
Not later than one year

218,263

64,759

Later than one year but not later

b.

than five years

505,083

15,205

Minimum lease payment

723,346

79,964

Hire Purchase commitments
Consolidated Group

2010

2009

Payable- minimum lease payments
Not later than one year

-

13,165

Later than one year but not later
than five years

51,561

-

Minimum lease payment

64,726

-

(14,848)

-

less future finance charges

.

Total
c.

.
.

- .

49,878

Exploration expenditure commitments
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, the Company is required to perform
minimum e xploration w ork to m eet t he m inimum e xpenditure r equirements sp ecified by t enements
licenses and acquisition agreements. These obligations are subject to renegotiation when application for
a mining lease is made and at ot her times. These obligations are not pr ovided for in the fi nancial report
and are payable:
Consolidated Group

2010
Not later than one year

2,519,550

2009
2,907,000

Later than one year but not later
than five years

4,048,433

5,111,118

Total

6,567,983

8,018,118
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NOTE 23: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
There is a contingent liability amounting to $110,000 in relation to penalties under the Mining Act details of
which are disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements. There are no contingent assets at the end of the
financial year.

NOTE 24: SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by
the board of directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the
allocation of resources.
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments
Accounting policies adopted
Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker with
respect to operating segments are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to
those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group.
This is the first reporting period in which AASB 8: Operating Segments has been adopted. Comparative
information has been re-stated to conform to the requirements of the Standard.
Description of segments
Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by the Board for making
strategic decisions. These reports show the performance of each entity within the Group. Accordingly the
Board has identified the following reportable segments:
•

Rey Resources Limited, parent company

•

Blackfin Pty Ltd, 100% subsidiary of Rey Resources Limited

•

Rey Kimberley Pty Ltd, 100% subsidiary of Rey Resources Limited

•

Humitos Pty Ltd, 100% subsidiary of Rey Resources Limited (disposed on 30 March 2010)

•

Rey Derby Pty Ltd, 100% subsidiary of Rey Resources Limited

•

Rey Investments Chile Limitada, 100% subsidiary of Rey Resources Limited (disposed on 17
August 2010)

These reportable segments differ from the previous annual report for the financial year ended 30 June 2009
which reflected a geographic reportable segment.
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Reconciliation of segment result to group net loss (before tax)
Inter-segment elimination
Segment net loss before tax

(73,188)

Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue:
Total Group revenue
Segment net loss before tax
(2,050,424)

Blackfin Pty
Ltd
$

1,221
1,221

Rey Resources
Ltd
$

338,618
203,602
542,220

Revenue
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total segment revenue

Year ended 30 June 2010

Total segment Performance

NOTE 24: SEGMENT REPORTING

(324)

16
16

Rey Kimberley
Pty Ltd
$

(102,648)

-

Rey Derby
Pty Ltd
$

(21,288)

-

Rey Investments
Chile Limitada
$
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(199,300)
(2,447,172)

543,457
(2,247,872)

339,855
203,602
543,457

$

Total
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Reconciliation of segment result to group net loss (before tax)
Inter-segment elimination
Segment net loss before tax

1,513

Reconciliation of segment revenue to group revenue:
Total Group revenue
Segment net loss before tax
(2,707,337)

Blackfin Pty
Ltd
$

1,947
1,947

Rey Resources
Ltd
$

129,026
3,140
132,166

Revenue
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total segment revenue

Year ended 30 June 2009

Total segment Performance

(455)

-

Rey Kimberley
Pty Ltd
$

(23,369)

-

Humitos
Pty Ltd
$
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(153,126)

30,903
30,903

Rey Investments
Chile Limitada
$

187,692
(2,695,082)

140,267
(2,882,774)

130,973
34,043
165,016

$

Total
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93,096

Segment assets increases(decreases) for the period:
Capital expenditure
3,457,992

Reconciliation of segment assets to the Group assets:
Group allocated assets
Inter-segment eliminations
Total Group assets

1,049,508

242,360

1,378,353

Blackfin Pty
Ltd
$

7,416,412

Year ended 30 June 2009
Segment assets

4,001,331

22,624,323

Rey Resources
Ltd
$

Reconciliation of segment assets to the Group assets:
Group allocated assets
Inter-segment eliminations
Total Group assets

Segment assets increases(decreases) for the year:
Exploration expenditure capitalised

Segment assets

Year ended 30 June 2010

Total segment assets

-

650

85,150

110,683

Rey Kimberley
Pty Ltd
$

-

-

-

-

Humitos Pty
Ltd
$

-

-

-

360,355

Rey Derby
Pty Ltd
$
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-

206,056

-

189,336

Rey Investments
Chile Limitada
$

8,672,626
(1,287,832)
7,384,794

3,551,088

8,672,626

24,663,050
( 2,450,107)
22,212,943

4,328,841

24,663,050

$

Total
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Reconciliation of segment liabilities to Group liabilities
Group allocated liabilities
Inter-segment eliminations
Total liabilities

1,289,663

2,197

23,367

-

Humitos Pty
Ltd
$

-

463,001

Rey Derby
Pty Ltd
$

2,859,109

2,738,321

Rey Investments
Chile Limitada
$

5,753,753

$

Total

4,419,943
(4,172,466)
247,477

4,419,943

245,607

112,554

Rey Kimberley
Pty Ltd
$

Year ended 30 June 2009
Segment liabilities

1,691,605

Blackfin Pty
Ltd
$

5,753,753
(4,999,531)
754,222

748,272

Rey Resources
Ltd
$

Reconciliation of segment liabilities to Group liabilities
Group allocated liabilities
Inter-segment eliminations
Total liabilities

Segment liabilities

Year ended 30 June 2010

Total segment Liabilities
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NOTE 25: CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Consolidated Group
2010
$
a.

2009
$

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations
with Loss after Income Tax
Loss after income tax

(2,447,172)

(2,695,082)

12,973

13,004

105

-

(200,000)

-

Non-cash flows in loss
Depreciation
Net loss on disposal of plant and
equipment
Net gain on disposal of subsidiary

188,792

-

Write off exploration expenditure

Impairment of receivable

27,408

670,255

Share options expensed

76,377

646,492

Foreign exchange

19,160

(16,992)

Unrealised gain on financial assets

(1,429)

-

Net cash expended on Operating activities
before changes in assets and liabilities

(2,323,786)

(1,382,323)

(621,125)

(130,509)

430,846

(45,617)

26,021

24,866

(2,488,044)

(1,533,583)

Increase/(decrease) in receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other
creditors
Increase/(decrease) in short term
provisions
Cash flow from operations
b.

Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities
During the year the consolidated group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate value of
$50,515 (2009: $ nil) by means o f hire p urchase. Th ese acquisitions are n ot r eflected i n the
consolidated statements of cash flows.
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NOTE 26: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 9 July 2010 Gujarat NRE Minerals Limited takeover offer lapsed.
On 24 July 2010 drilling commenced on the Dutchess Paradise project area.
On 6 Au gust 2010 Mr Kevin Wilson exercised 1,000,000 options, wh ich h ad an expiry date o f 9
August 2010.
On 17 August 2010 Rey Investments Chile Limitada was disposed of.
Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial
year and the dat e of this report any item, transaction or event of a material an unusual nature likely, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity, in future financial years.
NOTE 27: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transaction between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
a) Par ent Entity
The parent entity within the Group is Rey Resources Limited.
b) Subsi diaries
Interests in subsidiaries is set out in Note 11.
c) Key

Management Personnel

Disclosures in relation to Key management personnel are set out in Note 5 and on pages 7 and 8 of
the Directors’ Report.
d)

Transactions with Directors related entities

There were no other transactions with Directors and Directors related entities.
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NOTE 28: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
a) Financial Risk Management
The group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable
and hire purchase.
The main purpose of non-derivative financial instruments is to raise finance for group operations.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed
in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

Note

Consolidated Group

2010

2009

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets

8

10,514,692

528,023

9

775,119

342,788

10

21,693

20,264

Total

11,311,504

891,075

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables

16

653,457

Borrowings

17

49,878

Total

703,335

222,611
-

-

222,611

i. Treasury Risk Management
The Board is responsible for managing the consolidated entity’s currency and interest rate exposure and
for evaluating treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and
forecasts.
No hedging instruments were entered into during, or since the end of the financial year.
ii. Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
e)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate deposits. At 30 June 2010 the group’s
only debt is a hire purchase liability with a fixed scale rate of 10.95%.
f) F

oreign currency risk

As a result of exploration activities in Chile, the Group’s balance sheet can be affected by movements in
the US$/ Pesos / AUD exchange rates. Refer to Note 28.b.iii for further details.
g) Li quidity risk
The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate
uncommitted funding is available and maintained.
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b) Financial Instruments
i. Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis
The Group’s financial instruments exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate
for classes of financial assets and financial liabilities are set out below:
Consolidated Group
Weighted

Floating

Average

Interest

Interest

Rate

Rate

More
1 year or
less

$

1 to 5
years

$

$

Non-

than 5

interest

years

bearing

$

$

TOTAL

$

2010
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4.33% 4,514,692
Trade & Other Receivables

-

Financial assets

4,514,692

6,000,000
6,000,000

-

-

-

-

775,119
21,693

10,514,692
775,119

-

-

-

-

796,812

11,311,504

21,693

-

-

653,457

653,457

Financial liabilities
Trade & Other Payables
Borrowings

10.95%

-

-

8,101

41,777

-

-

8,101

41,777

-

-

49,878

653,457

703,335

2009
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5.19%

528,023

-

-

-

-

528,023

-

-

-

-

342,788

342,788

-

-

-

-

20,264

20,264

-

-

-

363,052

891,075

-

-

-

222,611

222,611

-

-

-

222,611

222,611

Trade & Other Receivables
Financial assets

528,023
Financial liabilities
Trade & Other Payables

-
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ii. Net Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Aggregate n et fair values a nd c arrying amounts of f inancial as sets and f inancial liabilities at
balance date approximate their carrying amounts.

iii. Sensitivity Analysis
At 30 June 2010, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar to other
foreign currency, with all other variables remaining constant is as follow:
Consolidated Group
2010

2009

$

$

(418)

(3,002)

Change in Profit
Improvement in AUD to US$ by 2%
Decline in AUD to US$ by 2%

434

3,125

(49,965)

(52,020)

Change in Equity
Improvement in AUD to US$ by 2%
Decline in AUD to US$ by 2%

52,021

54,144

NOTE 29: INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
Participation and Joi nt V enture op erating Agr eements i n r espect o f t wo Ex ploration Per mit App lications,
EP10/04-5 an d EP 11/04-5, were finalised on Au gust 2007 wi th Guj arat NRE M ineral R esources Li mited
(“Gujarat”) and Gujarat NRE Oil Pty Limited.
The Exploration Permits were granted as EP 457 and 458 and the joint venture was registered in January
2008. Gujarat paid $275,000 to Rey Resources Limited and is required to spend $4.85 million over 5 years
to earn a 90% interest in the two Exploration Permits. Rey Resources Limited will retain a 10% free carried
interest in the permits until the grant of a petroleum production licence, after which the parties are to
contribute according to their interest. Under the joint venture arrangement, Gujarat is responsible as
operator for execution of the exploration workplan . Rey Resources Limited is free carried (by loan) until a
production licence is granted. Gujarat did not complete the agreed workplan during the year and has applied
for a suspension from the Department of Mines and Petroleum. No liability or expenses have been incurred
by the Group during the year.
On 11 February 2010, the Company signed an agreement with Uranium Exploration Australia Limited
(‘UXA’) to explore for uranium at Myroodah in the Canning Basin in Western Australia. UXA can earn up to
80% by spending $1.75 million on two exploration licenses, while the Company retains all rights to the coal
on the leases. No liability or expenses have been incurred by the Group during the year.
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NOTE 30: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
No new options were granted during financial year 2010.
All options granted to key management personnel and consultants are over ordinary shares in Rey
Resources Limited, which confer a right of one ordinary share for every share option held.

Consolidated Group

2010

2009

Number

Weighted

Number

Weighted

of

Average

of

Average

Options

Exercise

options

Exercise

Price ($)
Outstanding at the beginning of the year

7,150,000

0.25

5,650,000 0.

20

-

-

2,000,000 0.

39

Cancelled

(1,000,000)

0.20

(500,000) 0.

20

Exercised

-

-

--

Expired

-

-

--

Outstanding at year-end

6,150,000

0.26

7,150,000 0.

25

Exercisable at year-end

6,150,000

0.26

7,150,000 0.

25

Granted
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NOTE 31: COMPANY DETAILS
The registered office of the company and principal place of business of the company is:
Rey Resources Limited
Suite 802, Level 8, 50 Clarence Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The directors of the company declare that:
1.

the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 15 to 62, are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and:
a. comply with Accounting Standards and
b. give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of the performance for
the year ended on that date of the consolidated group;

2.

the Managing Director and Company Secretary have each declared that:
a. the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in
accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;
b. the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards;
and
c. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;

3.

in the director’s opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mr. Julian Kinnear Ludowici
Chairman
th

Dated this 30 . of September 2010
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REY RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 84 108 003 890
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF REY RESOURCES LIMITED
Report on the Financial Report

We h ave audi ted the acc ompanying f inancial report o f R ey R esources Limited w hich
comprises th e s tatement of f inancial position as at 3 0 J une 2010, a nd t he s tatement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows f or
the y ear ende d on t hat date, a s ummary o f significant a ccounting policies and o ther
explanatory no tes and the directors' d eclaration o f the consolidated entity comprising
the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during
the financial year.
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The directors o f t he co mpany a re r esponsible fo r the preparation and f air presentation
of the financial report i n ac cordance w ith Aust ralian Accounting S tandards (including
the Au stralian Acc ounting I nterpretations) and t he Corporations A ct 2001. This
responsibility inc ludes establishing an d maintaining internal control rel evant to the
preparation an d f air pr esentation of t he financial r eport t hat i s free from mate rial
misstatement, whether du e to fraud or er ror; s electing a nd a pplying appropriate
accounting polic ies; and making accounting estimate s that ar e reasonable in the
circumstances. In N ote 1, t he directors also st ate, in acc ordance w ith A ccounting
Standard AA SB 101: P resentation of Fina ncial S tatements, that c ompliance with th e
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ensures that the
financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with IFRS.
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Our r esponsibility is to expr ess an op inion on t he f inancial report bas ed on our aud it. We
conducted our audit i n a ccordance w ith A ustralian A uditing S tandards. These A uditing
Standards require that w e c omply with relevant ethical r equirements r elating to aud it
engagements and plan a nd per form t he aud it to obt ain r easonable as surance
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves p erforming pr ocedures t o o btain audit ev idence a bout th e a mounts
and disclosures i n th e f inancial re port. T he proc edures s elected d epend on t he
auditor's judgment, including t he assessment of th e r isks of m aterial mi sstatement of t he
financial r eport, w hether due to fraud o r err or. In ma king t hose risk a ssessments, th e
auditor considers internal c ontrol r elevant to t he entity's pr eparation a nd fair
presentation o f the financial repor t in order to de sign au dit pro cedures that a re
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness o f t he en tity's inter nal c ontrol. An audit als o inc ludes e valuating the
appropriateness o f a ccounting policies used a nd the reas onableness o f acc ounting
estimates m ade b y th e d irectors, a s w ell as evaluating t he overall pr esentation of the
financial report.
We be lieve t hat th e a udit ev idence we h ave o btained is s ufficient an d appr opriate t o
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.
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REY RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 84 108 003 890
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF REY RESOURCES LIMITED
Auditor's Opinion

In our opinion
a.
the financial r eport of R oy Resources Limited is
Corporations Act 2001, including:

in ac cordance with the

i.
giving a true and f air v iew of t he c onsolidated entity's f inancial pos ition as
at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date:
and
ii.
complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
b.

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in Note 1.

Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern

Without qu alifying o ur opinion, w e dr aw att ention to N ote 1 i n the financial report w hich
indicates that the consolidated entity incurred a net loss of S2,447,172 during the year ended
30 June 2010. This condition along with other matters as set forth in N ote 1 i ndicates the
existence o f a m aterial unc ertainty w hich may c ast do ubt ab out the consolidated entity's
ability to continue as a going c oncern and to r ealise its assets and e xtinguish its liabilities in
the normal course of the business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.
 

   

We have audited the Remuneration Report Included in pages 7 to 8 of the directors' report
for the year end ed 30 June 2010. The di rectors o f the company are responsible fo r t he
preparation and presentation of t he R emuneration R eport i n accordance with s ection 3 00A
of the Corporations A ct 20 01. Our re sponsibility i s to expr ess an o pinion o n the
Remuneration R eport, bas ed on o ur aud it c onducted i n accordance w ith A ustralian
Auditing Standards.
Auditor's Opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Rey Resources Limited for the year ended
30 June 2010 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Hall Chadwick
Level 29, St Martins Tower
31 Market Street, SYDNEY NSW 2001

Graham W ebb
Partner
Date 30 September 2010
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this
report as follows. The information is current as at 30 September 2010.
a) Distribution of equity securities
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class of share were:
Ordinary Shares
Nu
mber of Holders
Number of Shares
1 - 1,000
2
50
76,521
1,001 - 5,000
3
13
999,291
5,001 - 10,000
2
37
1,993,298
10,001- 100,000
893
36,688,188
100,001 and over
223
219,882147
Total
1,916
259,639,445
The number of shares holding less than a
marketable parcel of shares are:
381
344,265
b)

Twenty largest shareholders

The names of the twenty largest holders of shares are:

shares

Ordinary Shares
Number of Shares
Percentage of ordinary

1. Gujarat NRE Limited
30,768,651
2. National Nominees Limited
22,404,874
3. J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
19,217,000
4. Merril Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited
10,900,000
5. Boongol Pty Ltd <McClements Family Trust>
10,532,452
6. ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income a/c>
10,306,767
7. JBBM Pty Ltd <Julian Ludowici S/F A/C>
10,277,773
8. Bruce Clement Preston <Super Fund A/C>
5,820,150
9.HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited
5,583,154
10. Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
4,121,807
11. Mr Jose Agustin Bahmondes
4,000,000
12. Kevin Wilson <Lincoln Superfund No1 A/C>
3,485,006
13. Alan Humphris + Elizabeth Ann Humphris
<Alan J Humphris PSF A/C>
3,265,254
14. John Paul Bahamondes
2,500,000
15. Claudia Estela Bahamondes
2,500,000
16. Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
<Cwlth Bank off Super a/c>
2,406,000
17. UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 2,337,664
18. Premar Capital Nominees Pty Ltd
2,164,974
19. Unaval Nominees Pty Ltd
<Unaval Reitrement Fund a/c>
2,056,724
20. Mr Colin Campbell
2,000,000
156,648,250

11.851
8.629
7.401
4.198
4.057
3.970
3.958
2.242
2.150
1.588
1.541
1.342
1.258
0.963
0.963
0.927
0.900
0.834
0.792
0.770
60.333
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c)

Substantial share holding pursuant to Section 671.B of the Corporations Act notified to the
Company:

Name of Substantial Shareholders
Gujarat NRE Minerals Limited
Bank of America Corporation
Acorn Capital Limited
Mathews Capital Limited

d)

Relevant
30,553,847
22,317,787
21,541,382
16,989,553

% of Issued Capital
11.85
8.60
8.30
6.54

Voting rights

All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction
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e)

Tenement Information

Current interests and applications in tenements held by Rey Resources Limited and its subsidiaries as at 30
September 2010 are listed below :

 


















































 






































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   


























 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

 

 







 

 

 























 

 



 
















210
210
144
183
210
210
96
210
63
105
210
90
105
210
90
75
99
210
4,650
5,325
36
264
81
531
96
75
162
48
390
12
51
255
162
600
156
192
441
87
72
12
78
6
105
105
102
105
156
279
195



 
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY
Directors:

Mr. Julian Kinnear Ludowici - Chairman
Mr. Kevin Wilson – Managing Director
Dr. Bruce Clement Preston
Mr. Alan John Humphris
Mr. James Timothy McClements
Mr. Ronnie Beevor

Company Secretary:

Mr. Julian Ludowici
Mr. Rolando Tinoco

Registered Office:
S
Tel

Level 8, 50 Clarence St
ydney NSW 2000
+61 2 9299 9357
Fax +61 2 9262 1403

Auditors: Hal
Char

l Chadwick
tered Accountants
Level 29 St Martins Tower
1 Market Street
ydney NSW 2000

3
S
Share Registry:

Registries Limited
Level 7, 207 Kent Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
PO Box 3993
Sydney, NSW 2001
Phone 02 9290 9600 / Fax 02 9279 0664

Internet

www.reyresources.com
info@reyresources.com

COMPANIES IN THE ECONOMIC ENTITY
Rey Resources Limited
Blackfin Pty Limited
Rey Kimberley Pty Limited
Rey Derby Pty Limited
Rey Resources Peru SA

ACN 108 003 890
ACN 094 938 708
ACN 126 469 387
ACN: 139 040 529
RUC 20507005773
STOCK EXCHANGE

Australian Securities Exchange (Sydney)
ASX Code: REY
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REY RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 84 108 003 890
AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF REY RESOURCES LIMITED
Report on the Financial Report

We h ave audi ted the acc ompanying f inancial report o f R ey R esources Limited w hich
comprises th e s tatement of f inancial position as at 3 0 J une 2010, a nd t he s tatement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows f or
the y ear ende d on t hat date, a s ummary o f significant a ccounting policies and o ther
explanatory no tes and the directors' d eclaration o f the consolidated entity comprising
the company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during
the financial year.
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The directors o f t he co mpany a re r esponsible fo r the preparation and f air presentation
of the financial report i n ac cordance w ith Aust ralian Accounting S tandards (including
the A ustralian A ccounting I nterpretations) a nd t he Corporations A ct 2001. This
responsibility inc ludes establishing an d maintaining internal control rel evant to the
preparation an d f air pr esentation of t he financial r eport t hat i s free from mate rial
misstatement, whether du e to fraud or er ror; s electing a nd a pplying appropriate
accounting polic ies; and making accounting estimate s that ar e reasonable in the
circumstances. In N ote 1, t he directors also st ate, in acc ordance w ith A ccounting
Standard AA SB 101: P resentation of Fina ncial S tatements, that c ompliance with th e
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) ensures that the
financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with IFRS.
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Our r esponsibility is to expr ess an op inion on t he f inancial report bas ed on our aud it. We
conducted our audit i n a ccordance w ith A ustralian A uditing S tandards. These A uditing
Standards require that w e c omply with relevant ethical r equirements r elating to aud it
engagements and plan a nd per form t he aud it to obt ain r easonable as surance
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves p erforming pr ocedures t o o btain audit ev idence a bout th e a mounts
and disclosures i n th e f inancial re port. T he proc edures s elected d epend on t he
auditor's judgment, including t he assessment of th e r isks of m aterial mi sstatement of t he
financial r eport, w hether due to fraud o r err or. In ma king t hose risk a ssessments, th e
auditor considers internal c ontrol r elevant to t he entity's pr eparation a nd fair
presentation o f the financial repor t in order to de sign au dit pro cedures that a re
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness o f t he en tity's inter nal c ontrol. An audit als o inc ludes e valuating the
appropriateness o f a ccounting policies used a nd the reas onableness o f acc ounting
estimates m ade b y th e d irectors, a s w ell as evaluating t he overall pr esentation of the
financial report.
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We be lieve t hat th e a udit ev idence we h ave o btained is s ufficient an d appr opriate t o
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.
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Highlights and Objectives
Highlights in 2010
■
■
■
■
■
■
■
■

Demonstrated economic viability of initial operation in Pre-Feasibility Study
Secured export facility
Confirmed concept for large scale underground operation
Commenced Definitive Feasibility study for two million tonne per year
export operation
Obtained funding
Appointed Project Director and opened Perth office
Demonstrated value beyond two opportunistic takeover offers
Continued community engagement regarding potential project

Objectives for 2011
■ Complete Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) for highwall mining operations
(HWM) at Duchess Paradise
■ Drill Duchess Paradise to reserve status for HWM
■ Commence approvals process
■ Explore along subcrop for additional coal resources
■ Advance larger underground and transport studies
■ Investigate long term partnership arrangements
■ Continue stakeholder engagement regarding potential project

Canning
Basin

A N N U A L
REPORT 2010
EXCITING RESOURCE
GROWING MARKET
BIG OPPORTUNITY

